95468-2



RECEIVED
FEB 0 2 2018
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

Supreme Court No. COA No. 49631-3-II

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### JOSHUA BILLINGS

Appellant,

V.

### TOWN OF STEILACOOM, ET AL

Respondents.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD H. WOOSTER, WSBA 13752 Kram & Wooster, P.S. Attorney for Appellants 1901 South I Street Tacoma, WA 98405 (253) 572-4161



###

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- 1. Does the Opinion's statement: "In Washington, it remains unresolved as to whether an arbitration decision can preclude a [42 U.S.C.] §1983 suit on the basis of collateral estoppel" undermine U.S. Supreme Court precedent that a labor arbitration decision cannot collaterally estop a First Amendment claim creating a significant question of law under the U.S. Constitution and/or an issue of substantial public interest?

- 3. What procedural and substantive aspects must a labor arbitration proceeding have to apply collateral estoppel to a First Amendment and public policy wrongful termination claim?
- 4. When the sole basis for summary judgment is affirmative collateral estoppel may the court review *sua sponte* analysis of the underlying claims which were not placed in issue by the motion?
- 5. Does injustice result from collateral estoppel blocking wrongful termination claims where arbitration is controlled by a Union, remedies are limited, the proceedings are private without a reviewable record or judicial review, and the arbitrator specifically directed the victim to use other forums for the claims at issue?
- 6. Do mixed motive analysis applied to Public Policy,
  WLAD and First Amendment claims make the application of
  collateral estoppel from a labor arbitration inappropriate?
- 7. Is the doctrine of "overriding justification" inapplicable where the Employer does not admit the termination was for public policy linked conduct?
- 8. Did Billings provide sufficient evidence supporting 42U.S.C. §1983, the WLAD and RCW 41.56 and/or the Public

Policy claims where the factual or legal basis for such claims were not placed in issue by Defendants' Summary Judgment Motion?

- 9. Do an employer's discriminatory hiring practices, refusal to follow promotional practices established by law, waste of governmental resources, retaliation for lawful union activities, or disability discrimination implicate the public policy of Washington State or First Amendment Rights making summary judgment inappropriate?
- 10. Is citation to statutes and cases authorizing attorneys' fees sufficient argument to justify a fee award?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Procedural History.

Arbitration. Billings began employment as a Public Safety Officer in 2001. (CP 1639). Steilacoom Public Safety Officers perform dual functions of law enforcement officers and fire fighters. (CP 113) Billings was promoted to Sergeant and Fire Operations Chief. (CP 1639, 1652). Billings assumed the lead negotiating position with his Union in 2011 after the Town took adverse actions against the Union's President. (CP1640-41). Billings was demoted in May 2012 and fired on September 25, 2012. (CP 1639). The Arbitrator overturned the demotion (CP 70-74) but affirmed the termination on the sole issue of "just cause." (CP 92).

The Arbitrator did not determine the employer's motivation, expressly leaving left that analysis to a different forum. (CP 91, 1691). "If Billings believes he was discriminated against because of his Union activities, he should bring his claim in a different forum" *Id*.

**Superior Court Claims.** Billings filed his Complaint alleging his termination violated public policy, was discriminatory and in retaliation for Billings' disability or perceived disability; retaliation for his lawful union activities; violating RCW Title 41 and the Washington Law Against Discrimination RCW 49.60, *et seq* (WLAD). (CP 1-4). Billings' First Amended Complaint (CP 1556-66) added a 42 U.S.C. 1983 for First Amendment retaliation. (CP 1832-33).

**Summary Judgment Motion.** Defendants' Summary Judgment relied solely on collateral estoppel<sup>1</sup> with no substantive analysis of facts or legal issues of Billings' claims. (CP 23) (CP 1716-1728).

Billings opposed both collateral estoppel and the implicit suggestion that no facts supporting his wrongful termination claims. (CP 1567—89). Billings detailed his active Union role, threats made by Chief Schaub and unlawful actions occurring in the year preceding his demotion and firing. (CP 1639-1705).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Defendant asserted other basis which Billings did not oppose and are not at issue here.

Court of Appeals. The Opinion affirmed summary judgment on grounds not briefed in superior court (CP 14-102; 1716-1728) and sua sponte decided there was insufficient grounds for the wrongful termination claims under 42 U.S.C. §1983 and the Public Policy of Washington. The Opinion found that (1) collateral estoppel bars all of Billings state law claims; (2) it need not address the application of collateral estoppel to Billings' 42 U.S.C. §1983 claims; (3) Billings failed to allege facts implicating WLAD discrimination. (4) Billings failed to present sufficient evidence of pretext to overcome presumption Defendants had justification for the termination apart protected activities. (5) Billings' public policy wrongful discharge claim fails because the arbitrator's finding provided an "overriding justification" for his discharge. (6) Billings 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim was not supported by sufficient evidence to present a prima facia case. (7) That Billings' fees request pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988 and RCW 49.60.030(2) lacked sufficient argument to justify an award of fees.

### **B.** Factual Background

Within a year after Billings assumed the lead role in labor negotiations (CP 1640-41, 1648, 1651) Billings was demoted and fired. (CP 1639). Defendants' stated the alleged basis for termination in a September 25, 2012 letter. (CP 1293-1309). Departing from established policy, Chief Straub personally performed the disciplinary investigation. (CP 1642).

The Arbitrator overturned the demotion (CP 73-74), but affirmed termination. (CP 92). Billings was covered under a collective bargaining agreement "(CBA") with the Steilacoom Police Officers Guild ("SPOG"). (CP 1607-1636), a union with just ten members. (CP 1658). Arbitration is controlled by the Union, limited to interpretation or application of the CBA (CP 1605, 1657-58; 1616-17).

The arbitration hearing was not transcribed, the Union could not afford the expense and Steilacoom refused to consent to an electronic recording.

(CP 1651) The Arbitration Award was inaccurate. (CP 1651-1657).

Billings had no right of appeal. (CP 1657) The Arbitrator directed

Billings to bring his retaliation claims in a different forum. (CP 1657, 1691). Billings' claims were not litigated in the Arbitration. (CP 1657).

Defendants assert the "just cause" finding collaterally estops Billings from arguing he was satisfactorily performing his duties (CP 28) and that Steilacoom had "legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for terminating Billings..." thereby baring all of his claims. (CP 27)

Billings' Concerns Raised Matters of Important Public Concern and Wrongful Termination in Violation of Public Policy.

Billings' public concern triggering first amendment and public policy protection include: (1) Billings' active Union role. (CP1640-41). (2) Failure to follow promotional procedures established by law. (CP 1640);

(3) Creating a new Fire Operations Chief position an improper procedure and unnecessary expense. (CP 1640,-41) (4) Threats and abuse by Chief Schaub and Fire Operations Chief McVay to Billings and others. (CP 1641, 1642-43, 1655, 1657, 1692-1700) (5) Opposition to splitting Public Safety Officer's function into separate positons of law enforcement and fire fighters as an unnecessary and unwarranted expense without taxpayer input. (CP 1649-50) (6) Defendants engaged in discriminatory hiring practices. (CP 1640-41, 1647-48, 1656) (7) Using volunteers to fill paid positions. (CP 1648, 1654) (8) Fire Operations Chief McVay operating a law enforcement vehicle in violation of law. (CP 1641, 1643-46) (9) Arbitrary change to Billings' Badge number obscuring his supervisory status creating safety issues. (CP 1648-479). (10) Chief Schaub dishonesty and Steilacoom blocking an outside investigation into the charge by falsely alleging the charge was already under investigation. (CP 1649-50). (11) Discrimination because of Billings' disability. (CP 1649-51). The Opinion characterized these issues as: "Complaints over internal affairs are not necessarily of public concern or protected speech." The Opinion, pg. 24.

The Arbitrator barred evidence on discriminatory hiring practices or the waste of funds from the splitting of the Public Safety Office into two separate bureaucracies. (CP 1657). Billings gave a time line showing many of the issues of public concern he raised and Defendants' corresponding reactions in the year prior to the firing. (CP 1639-1705.

### Plaintiff's Disability Discrimination Claims.

Sgt. Billings was assaulted and injured in the line of duty and was off work from May 2012 until September 2012. (CP 1649). Upon Billings' release to return to work, he was directed to go to separate doctor hired by Steilacoom to evaluate his ability to return to work. When that doctor agreed Billings was fit for duty, Billings was fired. (CP 1651).

### V. LEGAL DISCUSSION

### A. Petition for Review Should be Granted Pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b).

and This Court: McDonald v. City of W. Branch, Mich., 466 U.S. 284, 285–93, 104 S. Ct. 1799, 1800–04, 80 L. Ed. 2d 302 (1984) ("W.Branch") specifically holds collateral estoppel cannot apply to a labor arbitration decision to block a police officer's First Amendment claim under 42 U.S.C. §1983; and this Court's decision in Sprague v. Spokane Valley Fire Department, et al, Wa. Supreme Ct. Decision No. 93800-8, \_\_\_\_\_Wn.2d \_\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_P.3d \_\_\_\_\_, 2017 WL 6987827 (Jan. 25, 2018) (Sprague) holding collateral estoppel from a Civil Service Commission Hearing cannot be applied to First Amendment claims because of

constitutional issues were not the focus but the employee's behavior, the limited competence of the commission, the disparity of relief available, and the public policy considerations of the implicated First Amendment issues.

- (2) A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved:

  Applying collateral estoppel to a labor arbitration decision barring judicial review of mixed motive cases involving claims of public employees' First Amendment protection conflicts with W. Branch and Sprague.
- (3) The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court: Applying collateral estoppel to a labor arbitration decision preventing judicial review of mixed motive First Amendment, Public Policy or WLAD wrongful termination case significantly impacts public and private employees' choice of forum, available remedies; and creates irregularities that make collateral estoppel inappropriate.
- (4) The extent an advocate must present argument supporting a fee award in private attorney general cases must be known to encourage attorneys to accept these type of cases.

#### B. Standard of Review.

The appellate courts performs the same inquiry as the trial court de novo. Momah v. Bharti, 144 Wn. App. 731, 749, 182 P.3d 455 (2008). Summary judgment is properly granted only where 'there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and ... the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.' The court should view "the facts and reasonable inferences from those facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek, 175 Wn. 2d 1, 6, 282 P.3d 1083, 1085-86 (2012) (citations omitted). Whether collateral estoppel applies is reviewed de novo. Christensen v. Grant Cty. Hosp. Dist. No. 1, 152 Wash. 2d 299, 305, 96 P.3d 957, 960 (2004). Moving party's burden is to prove by uncontroverted facts that there is no genuine issue of material fact. If the moving party does not sustain that burden, summary judgment should not be entered irrespective of whether the nonmoving party has submitted affidavits or other materials. Jacobsen v. State, 89 Wn.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977).

Under RAP 13.4 (b) the court considers the impact of the Court of Appeals decision going forward; requisite degree of public interest, the public or private nature of the question presented, desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and

the likelihood of future recurrence of the question. People ex rel. *Wallace* v. *Labrenz*, 411 Ill. 618, 622, 104 N.E.2d 769 (1952).

Billings' case concerns Constitutional rights, public policy and antidiscrimination protections in the workplace and the judicial impact of a labor arbitration decision upon employee remedies in such cases. Review provides employees guidance how best to proceed where multiple forums exist to seek redress for unlawful work place conduct and how collateral estoppel will apply to claims of wrongful termination under public policy, WLAD or 42 U.S.C. §1983.

- C. Both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals Improperly Applied Collateral Estoppel Dismissing Plaintiff's Wrongful Termination Claims Involving Mixed Motive Analysis.
  - 1. A Labor Arbitration Decision Cannot Be Used For Collateral Estoppel to Dismiss a Public Employee's First Amendment Claim Brought Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983.

Constitutional rights held dear in a civilized society makes collateral estoppel preventing inquiry into unlitigated First Amendment claims inappropriate. *McDonald v. City of W. Branch, Mich.*, 466 U.S. 284, 285–93, 104 S. Ct. 1799, 1800–04, 80 L. Ed. 2d 302 (1984) ("W. *Branch*"), (That decision is attached as Appendix 2 to this petition.) and was shared with the Superior Court. (CP 1592-1597). The Opinion completely ignores *W. Branch*.

W. Branch observed "... an arbitrator's expertise "pertains primarily to the law of the shop, not the law of the land." An arbitrator may not, therefore, have the expertise required to resolve the complex legal questions that arise in § 1983 actions "Second, because an arbitrator's authority derives solely from the contract, an arbitrator may not have the authority to enforce § 1983." "Third, when, as is usually the case, the union has exclusive control over the "manner and extent to which an individual grievance is presented," there is an additional reason why arbitration is an inadequate substitute for judicial proceedings. The union's interests and those of the individual employee are not always identical or even compatible. As a result, the union may present the employee's grievance less vigorously, or make different strategic choices, than would the employee." "Finally, arbitral fact-finding is generally not equivalent to judicial fact-finding." McDonald v. City of W. Branch, Mich., 466 U.S. 284, 290-91, 104 S. Ct. 1799, 1803-04, 80 L. Ed. 2d 302 (1984) (citations omitted).

This Court's analysis in *Sprague v. Spokane Valley Fire Department*, et al, Wa. Supreme Ct. Decision No. 93800-8, \_\_\_Wn.2d \_\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_

P.3d \_\_\_\_\_, 2017 WL 6987827 (Jan. 25, 2018) at pages 35-40 brought these concerns into sharp focus while observing "[w]e should not give

preclusive effect to agency decisions when they are intertwined with such important constitutional questions." *Id.* At pg. 40.

The Opinion's statement on page 22, "In Washington, it remains unresolved as to whether an arbitration decision can preclude a [42 U.S.C.] §1983 suit on the basis of collateral estoppel" undermines U.S. Supreme Court precedent holding important civil rights claims cannot be blocked by collateral estoppel use of a labor arbitration decision. Rather than squarely addressing the issue, the Opinion looked to the underlying factual and legal support for Billings' claims that were not brought into sharp focus or shown to be uncontroverted because collateral estoppel was the sole basis for summary judgment.

In Yakima County v. Yakima County Law Enforcement Officers Guild, 157 Wn.App. 304, 237 P.3d 316 (2010) the court concluded, in the reverse scenario, that issues presented in a lawsuit under RCW 49.60 and a CBA arbitration involve entirely different issues thus precluding the application of preclusion principles:

In submitting his grievance to arbitration, an employee seeks to vindicate his contractual rights under a collective bargaining agreement. By contrast, in filing a lawsuit under Title VII, an employee asserts independent statutory rights accorded by Congress. The distinctly separate nature of these contractual and statutory rights is not vitiated merely because both were violated as a result of the same factual occurrence.

Yakima County. 157 Wn.App. at 330 citing to Civil Service Commission v. City of Kelso, 137 Wn.2d 166, 175, 969 P.2d 474 (1999), quoting Reese v. Sears, Roebuck and Co. 107 Wn.2d 563, 575-579, 731 P.2d 497 (1987).

Yakima County held that the distinctly different nature of contractual and WLAD statutory rights the prevented res judicata from stopping the pursuit of a CBA grievance following dismissal on summary judgment of a discrimination lawsuit involving the same facts. The Yakima County court did not reach the collateral estoppel issue leaving it ultimately to be resolved by the arbitrator. Id. 157 Wn. App. at 332.

The WLAD "embodies a public policy of the highest priority..."

Martini v. Boeing Company, 173 Wn.2d 357, 364, 971 P.2d 45 (1999).

Should issues of highest priority be relegated to back room arbitrations where discrimination victims are not even in control of the proceedings? Mixed motives may drive employer's unlawful actions, liability attaches if discriminatory motives were a "substantial factor."

Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wash. 2d 302, 898 P.2d 284 (1995). An employer need only be motivated in part by retaliatory influences to violate RCW 49.60.210 (Davis v. W. One Auto. Grp., 140 Wn.App. 449, 460, 166 P.3d 807 (2007).

The Opinion further muddies the waters of collateral estoppel arising from unreviewable private arbitrations that was approved in *Robinson v*. *Hamed*, 62 Wash. App. 92, 813 P.2d 171 (1991), *rev. denied*, applying

collateral estoppel effect to an arbitration award. It is respectfully asserted that *Hamed* was wrongly decided and is contrary to the policy considerations of W. Branch and Sprague. Hamed discusses both W. Branch and Alexander v. Gardner-Denver Co., 415 U.S. 36, 94 S.Ct. 1011, 39 L.Ed.2d 147 (1974) (Title VII claim discrimination claim) ("Gardner-Denver") but dismisses those decisions without any analysis noting that: "The [U.S.] Supreme Court has since made this position [that decisions were limited to certain federal claims] clear, and has retracted its apparent mistrust of the arbitral process. Gilmer v. Interstate/Johnson Lane Corp., 500 U.S. 20, 111 S. Ct. 1647, 114 L. Ed. 2d 26 (1991)" Hamed, 62 Wash. App. at 98. *Hamed's* reliance on *Gilmer* is misplaced. Gilmer simply indicated that the parties might agree to arbitrate claims of age discrimination. Private arbitration agreements do not translate to accepting CBA arbitration awards as collateral estoppel blocking constitutional or public policy claims of the highest priority. W. Branch is still good law, both *Hamed* and the Opinion erred in ignoring it.

Other jurisdictions reviewing this issue have concluded collateral estoppel should not be applied using a finding of "just cause" to block a state claim. *Taylor v. Lockheed Martin Corp.*, 113 Cal. App. 4th 380, 385–86, 6 Cal. Rptr. 3d 358, 361–62 (2003); *Miller v. Pond*, 171 Ohio App. 3d 347, 347–53, 870 N.E.2d 787, 787–91 (2007); *Andrews v. May* 

Dep't Stores, 96 Or. App. 305, 305–13, 773 P.2d 1324, 1324–28 (1989); Genovese v. Gallo Wine Merchants, Inc., 226 Conn. 475, 475–97, 628 A.2d 946, 946–56 (1993); Miller v. Cty. of Glacier, 257 Mont. 422, 422–28, 851 P.2d 401, 401–04 (1993).

This court should align itself with those decisions, *W. Branch* and extend the holding in *Sprague* from Civil Service Appeals to Labor Arbitrations and remand this matter for a full trial on Defendants' motivation behind Billings' firing.

## 2. Applying Collateral Estoppel in this Case Works an Injustice.

The injustice factor in collateral estoppel analysis recognizes the significant role of public policy. *State v. Williams*, 132 Wash.2d 248, 257, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997). Deciding whether to apply collateral estoppel to an administrative proceeding, the court examines three more factors: "(1) whether the agency acting within its competence made a factual decision; (2) agency and court procedural differences; and (3) policy considerations." *Shoemaker v. City of Bremerton*, 109 Wn.2d 504, 508, 745 P.2d 858 (1987). Court may reject collateral estoppel when its application would contravene public policy. *State v. Dupard*, 93 Wash.2d 268, 275-76, 609 P.2d 961 (1980).

Applying collateral estoppel in this case prevented judicial review of important public policy issues of corruption (CP 1640-41,1648-50), WLAD discrimination (CP 1640,1647-48, 1649,1651, 1656-57) retaliation for asserting First Amendment rights, engaging in lawful union activities, opposing WLAD discrimination and cronyism (CP 1641-444,1646-48) and waste of funds; (CP 1640-41, 1649-51, 1654) all matters of public concern.

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