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

### II. ARGUMENT

Petitioner presents ten "issues for review" (*Pet.*, pp. 1-3) but only provides analysis of a few. <sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeals properly set forth and applied well-established principles of collateral estoppel (*Opinion*, p. 8-21),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The lack of a transcript or recording of the entire proceedings is remedied by the arbitrator's detailed ruling and the extensive documentation of the evidence presented to and considered by the arbitrator to support each of her findings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The court will review only questions raised in the petition, unless the court orders otherwise. RAP 13.7(b). *Shumway v. Payne*, 136 Wash. 2d 383, 392–93, 964 P.2d 349, 353 (1998). Issues 4, 5,6, and 9 were not briefed in the Petition.

summary judgment standards (p. 7, 16-19, 21-24), and substantive employment and civil rights law (p. 21-24). Consistent with his arguments below, Billings continues to treat the Court's opinion as if his claims were dismissed pursuant to CR 12(b)(6). *Opinion*, p. 20, n. 5. He continues to ignore the Court's repeated conclusions that he simply failed to produce evidence sufficiently supportive of the substantive elements of his claims. Billings was not barred at the courthouse steps from pursuing his civil claims; the evidence regarding his termination merely precluded him from moving past the summary judgment stage of litigation. Petitioner has not met the standards of RAP 13.4(b).

# A. The Court Did Not Apply Collateral Estoppel to Billings' §1983 First Amendment Claim, and Therefore the Opinion Does Not Conflict With Decisions from the U.S. or Washington Supreme Courts (RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)).

Issues 1-4, and 6 purport to seek review of an appellate decision affirming dismissal of a §1983 First Amendment claim "based on collateral estoppel." Supreme Court review "is generally limited to questions that have been presented to and addressed by the Court of Appeals" unless there is an issue included in the record and discussed in the briefs that is necessary to decide the case on the merits. *State v. L.J.M.*, 129 Wn. 2d 386, 397, 918 P.2d 898, 904 (1996). Petitioner concedes the appellate court left the question of whether collateral estoppel operates to bar re-litigation of First

Amendment claims unanswered; resolution of that question was not necessary then, nor is it now, to affirm dismissal of Billings' claims. *Opinion*, p. 6 ("We need not decide whether his 42 U.S.C. §1983 claim is precluded by collateral estoppel.").

Instead, the Court of Appeals "review[ed] the evidence presented at summary judgment" and ruled that Billings failed, as a matter of law, to establish "with evidence" that his "actions constituted protected speech, that would give rise to a First Amendment claim." (p. 24), relying on *Connick v. Myers*, 461 U.S. 138, 149 (1983) (whether speech warrants First Amendment protection is a" pure question of law"). *Opinion*, pp. 22-24 ("Billings provided insufficient evidence to establish a prima facie case under §1983"). Petitioner does not seek Supreme Court review of the appellate court's application of this well-established First Amendment jurisprudence to the evidence in this case on the issue of whether Billings spoke on a matter of public concern. *Opinion*, p. 23-24. The court did not rely on the collateral estoppel doctrine to reach this conclusion, and thus could not conflict with any other State or Federal caselaw on that issue to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

B. This Case Does Not Present Significant Question of Law Under the United States or Washington State Constitutions Regarding Collateral Estoppel of First Amendment Claims.

Even assuming the Court of Appeals' decision had applied collateral

estoppel to dismiss Billings' claims, such a decision would not create a conflict warranting Supreme Court review here.

1. The 1984 McDonald decision does not prohibit collateral estoppel in all §1983 actions; Federal courts have more recently approved such application.

Petitioner's reliance on *McDonald v. City of W. Branch, Mich.*, 466 U.S. 284, 285-93, 104 S.Ct. 1799 (1984) to suggest an arbitration can *never* bar a subsequent §1983 claim is misplaced. *Pet., p. 11-12.*<sup>5</sup> To the contrary, since the 1984 *McDonald* decision, the Supreme Court has ruled that it is appropriate "to apply principles of issue preclusion to the fact-finding of administrative bodies acting in a judicial capacity." *Univ. of Tennessee v. Elliott,* 478 U.S. 788, 797, 106 S. Ct. 3220, 3225 (1986) (citing *United States v. Utah Const. & Mining Co.,* 384 U.S. 394, 86 S.Ct. 1545 (1966)). In turn, these facts would also prevent Billings from proving he was terminated for constitutionally-protected speech, or that he would not have been fired anyway, required elements in a First Amendment claim. Billings cites no evidence (nor does any exist) in the record creating a question of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The supporting analysis reasons (1) an arbitrator may not have the expertise required to resolve the complex legal questions in a §1983 action, (2) an arbitrator may not have the authority to enforce §1983, (3) the union usually has exclusive control over an employee's grievance, and (4) arbitral fact-finding is generally not equivalent to judicial fact-finding. *Id.* at 290-91. Factors (1) and (2) are inapplicable here as the Town relied only on factual findings. Element (3) fails as the record clearly established the union was acting in Billings' interest—the hearing was only about his termination, not some broader issue where the Association and Billings' interests may diverge. The arbitrator's detailed fact-finding and evidentiary basis resolve concerns raised by factor (4) on the record in this case.

fact as to whether the Town would have fired him for his repeated misconduct, and in his own arbitration testimony he declared his intention to continue to subvert the Town's interests. CP 1446-1451.

In Christensen v. Grant Harb. Hosp., 152 Wash. 2d 299, 313, 96 P.3d 957 (2004), this court more recently confirmed that factual findings in administrative proceedings can have preclusive effect even on federal civil rights claims, where the **issue** decided would prohibit the plaintiff from establishing the necessary elements of the claim, citing the 1986 Elliott decision:

The United States Supreme Court has held, for example, that findings by a state administrative body will be given preclusive effect in a subsequent 42 U.S.C. §1983 claim of racially motivated discharge from employment, provided the requirements for issue preclusion are otherwise satisfied. *Elliott*, 478 U.S. at 794–99, 106 S.Ct. 3220. Similarly, under Washington law preclusive effect can be given in a §1983 civil rights action to an administrative agency's earlier factual findings that the employee's reductions in rank were not retaliatory. *Shoemaker*, 109 Wash.2d 504, 745 P.2d 858. Simply because the tort action rests on public policy does not mean that public policy dictates that collateral estoppel should never be applied.

Id., at 313(emphasis added).

In fact, in a companion case to *Shoemaker v. City of Bremerton*, 109 Wash.2d 504, 745 P.2d 858 (1987), the Federal court also applied collateral estoppel to dismiss §1983 First Amendment retaliation claims based on the same Civil Service Commission decision that barred the employee's state

law wrongful discharge claim; the Ninth Circuit affirmed the decision. Shoemaker v Bremerton, 844 F.2d 792 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1988) (unpublished) (citing Elliott, 106 S.Ct. 3220 (1986).<sup>6</sup>

Ninth Circuit decisions focus less on what the prior proceeding is titled and more on whether it meets criteria which would make its findings reliable. *See, White v. City of Pasadena,* 671 F.3d 918 (9th Cir. 2012) (grievance proceeding "conducted in a judicial-like adversarial hearing in front of an impartial arbiter" had the "requisite judicial character" to preclude §1983 claims); *Eaton v. Siemens,* 571 F. App'x 620, 621 (9th Cir. 2014) (arbitration with witnesses and exhibits had "sufficient judicial character" to preclude §1983 claims); *Eaton v. Siemens,* 2012 WL 1669680, at \*2 (arbitrator's finding of policies violations met the *Utah Construction* requirements and had preclusive effect). Even if applied, collateral estoppel of Billings' §1983 claim would not conflict with State or Federal law on this record.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Elliot was decided two years after McDonald, and this Court reaffirmed this ruling in Shoemaker (1988) and Christensen (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Miller v. Cty. of Santa Cruz, 39 F.3d 1030 (as amend.), 1033 (9th Cir. 1994) (requisite judicial character met under Utah Construction if "(1) that the administrative agency act in a judicial capacity, (2) that the agency resolve disputed issued of fact properly before it, and (3) that the parties have an[] adequate opportunity to litigate."); Eilrich v. Remas, 839 F.2d 630, 632 (9th Cir. 1988)("[f]ederal courts must give preclusive effect to... unreviewed administrative findings under federal common law rules of preclusion.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Unpublished dispositions and orders of the 9<sup>th</sup> Circuit after January 1, 2007, may be cited in accordance with FRAP 32.1." Ninth Circuit Rule 36-3(b).

2. The 2018 Sprague decision does not preclude collateral estoppel where factual issues are fully and fairly litigated and does not conflict with the court's Opinion.

Sprague v. Spokane Valley Fire Dept., 409 P.3d 160 (2018) is also distinguishable in important respects. Sprague did not involve factual findings in the prior proceeding or evaluation of sufficiency of evidence to support the elements of specific civil claims; rather, it involved a pure question of law under the U.S. Constitution:

Here, neither party argues before this court that the First Amendment issue should be remanded to the trial court. Instead, all parties argue that they are entitled to judgment on the constitutional issue as a matter of law.

Id., p. 171 (evidence in Civil Service proceeding and trial court solely related to whether application of the Department's policy violated U.S. Constitution). Ultimately, this court ruled—as a matter of law—that the Department's policy itself violated the First Amendment based on the agreed facts that the policy prohibited an employee from joining email conversations if the content of his emails contained religious references.<sup>9</sup>

In so holding, *Sprague* acknowledged, but did not overrule or detract from its earlier decision in *Shoemaker*, 109 Wn.2d 504, which applied collateral estoppel to preclude re-litigation of *factual* issues fully litigated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See, also, Sprague v. Spokane Valley Fire Dept., 196 Wn.App. 21, 49-50, 381 P.3d 1259 (2016) (dissent) (employee there was terminated for violating a directive or policy that was in and of itself unconstitutional and, thus, operated more like a "prior restraint" of First Amendment rights).

before a Civil Service Commission. *Id.*, p. 184. The *Sprague* decision appropriately noted that a Civil Service Commission does not have the "competence" or "authority" to make constitutional conclusions, "such as whether SVFD violated Sprague's free speech rights." *Id.*, at 185, *citing Shoemaker*, at 511 with approval ("stating that the Commission has competence to make factual determinations only"). That is a correct reading of the law and the Billings decision, below, does not contradict it.

In contrast, the arbitrator here never made *legal* conclusions regarding *constitutional* issues or public policy of significance under Washington law; nor did the Town argue that any such conclusions would collaterally estop Billings' claims. The Town never argued that the arbitrator's finding of "just cause," in and of itself, barred Billings' claims. CP 15-31, 1716-1725. Rather, the Town relied on a series of specific *factual* findings by the arbitrator, supported by evidence in her written opinion and the evidentiary record—also independently supported by the evidentiary record presented to the trial court—and applied those facts to the substantive framework that any superior or appellate court would use to evaluate whether claims under WLAD, public policy wrongful termination, or First Amendment retaliation can withstand summary judgment. CP 14-102, 1716-1727, 1780-1790.

Further, the "disparity of relief" referenced in Sprague is not present

here. The arbitrator was not limited to the remedy of reinstatement, but was also authorized to award back pay and other benefits to Billings. *Id.*, 409 P.3d at 185. As noted in *Piel v. City of Federal Way*, 177 Wn.2d 604, 615-616, 306. P.3d 879 (2013), collateral estoppel would apply just as equally to an employer who received an adverse factual finding from an arbitrator in a subsequent action for damages by the employee. The factual record here is void of any indication that Billings was *actually precluded* from presenting any testimony or evidence that would have changed the findings made by the arbitrator or would make a difference to his civil claims. CP 1398-1454, 112-117, 137-1461. Nor has Billings offered evidence that his ability to fully and fairly litigate this case was in any way *actually limited* by his status as a union member or representation by union counsel. *Id.* 

Finally, this court determined that public policy considerations in *Sprague* weighed against applying collateral estoppel because it involved litigation of an "important public question" of both Federal and State law: "the extent to which an employer may restrict an employee's speech, especially when that speech is religious." *Id.* at 185-186. Here, Billings' fact-specific disagreement with his employer's termination decision is significant only to him and his personal interests; it is of no significance to

public employees or employers state-wide.<sup>10</sup> It does not present significant issues of unresolved constitutional or public policy law. The summary judgment proceedings were merely a matter of evaluating the nature and sufficiency of evidence Billings and the Town would be presenting to a judge in a bench trial in this civil proceeding.<sup>11</sup>

## C. Petitioner Does Not Raise Issues of Substantial Public Interest Simply Because He Pursued Claims of Discrimination, Retaliation, or Wrongful Discharge.

Petitioner suggests the Court of Appeals' decision and the nature of his claims inherently creates issues of substantial public interest. Neither *McDonald*, *Sprague*, or any other authority cited, suggest the "mixed motive" nature of First Amendment or discrimination claims affects application of collateral estoppel. Both involved prior administrative decisions exceeding jurisdictional authority by making *legal* conclusions about federal constitutional questions.

Petitioner improperly confuses *res judicata* principles with collateral estoppel analysis, *citing Yakima Cty. v. Yakima Cty. Law Enf. Offc. Guild*, 157 Wn.App. 304, 237 P.3d 316 (2010) (*Pet., pp.* 13-14). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> For the same reasons, cases from other jurisdictions cited at Pet., p. 15-16, are inapplicable here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Petitioner also cites *Piel*, supra, at 612-13 to argue that an officer can choose to pursue civil wrongful termination claims even if he has not exhausted administrative remedies; again, the Town does not disagree. However, Billings' claims were not dismissed on an "exhaustion" theory (nor did the Town ever assert it), so it has no application.

Town never argued Billings was precluded from *pursuing* civil claims, nor did the Court of Appeals so rule. However, it is a well-established principle of summary judgment jurisprudence that the court should dismiss civil claims as a matter of law where the plaintiff fails to present admissible evidence to support each of the substantive elements of those claims. *See, Hill v. BCTI Income Fund*, 114 W.2d, 850, 862, 200 P.3d 764 (2009), *overruled on other grounds* by *McClarty v. Totem Elect.*, 157 W.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006) (summary judgment standards for WLAD claims).

The City provided a substantial evidentiary record to support dismissal of Petitioner's RCW Ch. 49.60 (WLAD) and wrongful termination claims, and the court properly analyzed them claims under the *McDonnell-Douglas*<sup>12</sup> and *Hill* and wrongful discharge burden-shifting framework. Petitioner does not argue, nor is there support for suggesting the arbitrator's factual findings arising out of a fully-litigated proceeding cannot collaterally estop an employee from re-litigating those same facts in hopes of a different outcome in front of another judge in a bench trial. *See*, *Shoemaker*, *supra*; *Reninger v. Dept. of Corr.*, 134 Wash.2d 437, 951 P.2d 782 (1998); *Christensen*, *supra*, 152 Wash.2d 299; *Plancich v. Cty. of Skagit*, 147 F. Supp. 3d 1158, 1163 (W.D. Wash. 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> McDonnell-Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct., 1817, 36 L.Ed. 2d 668 (1973)

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